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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	DEBRA M. DELONG, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant

                                                   v. 

FAIRBANKS NORTH STAR BOROUGH,

                            Self Insured Employer,

                                                     Defendant.

	)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
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)

)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200401035
AWCB Decision No.  09-0089
Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

on May 8, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim on June 26, 2008, at Fairbanks, Alaska.  Attorney Robert M. Beconovich represented the employee.  Attorney Jill S. Dolan represented the self-insured employer.  The record remained open at the conclusion of the hearing to receive information from the Employment Security Division and post-hearing briefs from the parties.  The Board deliberated on April 2, 2009, at which time the record closed.  


ISSUES

1. Pursuant to AS 23.30.095, is the employee’s claim for past and future medical benefits for her right knee compensable?

2. Is the employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment under AS 23.30.220? 

3. Under AS 23.30.185 or AS 23.30.200, is the employee’s claim for TTD or TPD from February 10, 2005, and continuing compensable? 

4. Pursuant to AS 23.30.190, is the employee entitled to additional PPI benefits?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. Background 

The employee began work for the Fairbanks North Star Borough (FNSB) as a Transit Operator or part-time bus driver on May 28, 2002.
  She was paid on an hourly basis and her work time varied from week to week, with an average of 15-20 hours per week.
   The buses were equipped with air brakes.
  On February 3, 2004, the employee reported an increase in her knee pain from the “continual pushing on brake.”
   She initially treated with physical therapy and chiropractic treatment.  In September 2004 the employee was found to have a tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus and surgery was performed by Dr. Cobden on September 17, 2004.  The employee was released for light duty work October 16, 2004.
  She was terminated on August 31, 2005, for inability to return to work as a bus driver.  The employee has since worked for several other employers.  She is currently seeking time loss and treatment associated with chondromalacia of the right knee which she attributes to the 2004 report of work injury.  

II. Medical History

The employee has a long history of complaints and medical treatment for her right knee going back to at least 1987.  She first treated for her knee on November 2, 1987, when she complained to Cary S. Keller, M.D., of bilateral leg problems which had been ongoing for two years.
  Dr. Keller next saw the employee on November 2, 1993, for right ankle weakness and ordered x-rays of both knees.  She told Dr. Keller both knees gave “out walking up & down stairs x 6 mos.”
  The employee also had complaints of pain in her shoulders, wrists, and forearms.  

On November 8, 1993, the employee reported bilateral knee pain exacerbated by stair climbing and running.
  A Report of Injury was signed by her on November 12, 1993, asserting an injury in December 1992 and stating that “work station & distributing mail up & down stairs caused knee pain.” 
  On November 13, 1993, the employee reported to her physical therapist at Sportsmedicine Fairbanks that her legs were “killing her’ but on November 20, 1993, she reported her knees were better.
   However, on November 30, 1993, she indicated her knees were worse.
  By December 4, 1993, her knees were still sore, but better.
  As of December 11, 1993, the employee reported she her knees were stiff and painful.
  Dr. Keller saw the employee again on December 14, 1993, and noted an injury date of November 16, 1992.
  He confirmed she was no longer “running mail up & down stairs” but, nonetheless, would require an MRI of the left knee in the future.
  The employee was not medically stable.  She continued with physical therapy, noting on December 22, and December 28, 1993, the employee had not been fully compliant with her home exercises and her knees continued to hurt her.  The assessment was parapatellar pain and grind pain.

Dr. Keller ordered the MRI of both knees on January 25, 1994, due to shoulder and knee pain without change.
  On January 28, 1994, Dr. Keller recommended that her employer make an effort to find machines to assist the employee in minimizing repetitive manual duties in order to maximize a successful return to work.
  The employee continued to attend physical therapy twice a week in January with her symptoms waxing and waning.  She frequently reported weakness and/or the knees giving way.
  At her request, the University of Alaska Fairbanks had an ergonomic evaluation of the employee’s work station undertaken and minor adjustments were made, such as moving the phone and provision of an electric letter opener.
 

The MRI of the right knee was done on February 11, 1994, and the radiologist read it as normal, although degenerative signal activity was noted in the posterior horn of the medial meniscus but with no definite surface reaching tear. 
 Dr. Keller read the report on February 22, 1994, noting that it showed degenerative changes in the posterior horn medial menisci bilaterally and he recommended an internal job change to manage the symptom exacerbation “and interpersonal conflicts in present job.”
   He released her to modified work; and she continued with physical therapy through February and March 1993, with her same symptoms each week.
  The employee still had complaints of knee pain on March 23, 1994.  

The employee began treatment at Holistic Medical Center for various problems 
 and reported on April 20, 1994, that her right knee was still sore
 although by May 4, 1994, she reported that her knees were feeling better.
   On May 11, 1994, she reported that, while her knees felt better, her right knee still felt weak.
  On June 24, 1994, the employee stated that her knees were better and she had no pain while sitting, but did have pain on stairs.
  On July 1, 1994, Ruth Bar-Shalom, N.D., of Holistic Medical Clinic of Fairbanks, wrote the adjuster advising of the need for an increase in her treatment frequency since her symptoms were aggravated by work activities.
  The employee had an accident with her bike on July 7, 1994, and fractured her right radius.
  She reported left knee pain below the patella on July 18, 1994.
  

On May 6, 1995, the employee reported knee joint tenderness and right knee pain on June 7, 1995.
  The right knee was still tender on July 8, 1995.
  She continued to treat at Holistic Medical Clinic in September and October 1995, although primarily for elbow and sinus problems.
  The employee continued to treat regularly at Holistic Medical Clinic although her knee complaints diminished until May 23, 1996, when she again reported right knee pain with weakness that caused it to collapse.
  

The employee reported on July 29, 1996, her right leg was “extremely sensitive along outer edge.”
  In December 1996, she reported left knee complaints
 and then on January 2, 1997, she reported joint pain in her left arm and both knees for a couple of weeks.
  On January 24, 1997, she reported an episode of weakness in the right knee while moving from sitting to standing.
  She again reported her knees giving out, especially the right knee, on February 4, 1997.
  

The employee reported to McAfee Chiropractic Health Center on June 19, 1998, that her knees were periodically bothering her.
  It was noted she has fibromyalgia.  On July 21, 1998, she continued her treatment at McAfee Chiropractic Health Center for low back and fibromyalgia pain.
   She reported on August 31, 1998, that a podiatrist taped her feet and her knees stopped hurting. 
  On each visit she reported a variety of pain complaints from headaches to fatigue.  On November 11, 1998, she reported her right knee collapsed and in December she reported she was much improved after her vacation in Hawaii.
  On January 12, 1999, the employee again reported knee problems.
  She slipped on the ice on March 26, 1999, falling primarily on the left.
  She fell while riding her bike and on August 12, 1999, reported pain throughout her body. 
  She fell again on January 14, 2000, two hours prior to her appointment with McAfee Chiropractic Health Center.
  

The employee was seen at Fairbanks Chiropractic Clinic on October 6, 2000, with a list of pain complaints including leg pain, swollen joints, painful or stiff joints, and muscle weakness.
  She reported having been seen at the emergency room for low back pain from a fall down the stairs in February 2000.
  On April 13, 2001, the employee fell down the stairs and had pain in her SI joint.
  She treated a few more times in 2001 and 2002, primarily for back pain.
  

On January 7, 2003, the employee was seen again at the McAfee Chiropractic Health Center for complaints of stiffness in her neck, among other things.
  She was next seen in June 2003, for neck and lumbar pain.
  On self-referral, the employee sought treatment at Willow Physical Therapy on July 16, 2003, noting she had pain and tenseness in her shoulders and back.  Her pain diagram showed bilateral knee pain on the front.
  On December 2, 2003, the employee reported to Fairbanks Chiropractic she had bilateral knee pain and on December 18, 2003, she reported both her knees were sore from driving. 
 

On February 3, 2004, the employee reported to Tanana Valley Clinic she had right knee pain for one year but which had now intensified.  According to the employee, activating the brake on the bus or climbing stairs aggravated the pain.  She was referred to physical therapy for extra articular knee/leg pain.
  A Report of Injury was filed on February 18, 2004, asserting an injury date of February 3, 2004, from “continual pushing on brake,” which caused pain in the right knee.  On February 19, 2004, the employee was released to full duty.
  

The employee was again referred on March 24, 2004 for two weeks physical therapy for right knee pain,
 which began on that same date at Equinox Orthopedic Physical Therapy.  She had full range of motion with resisted hip flexor medial aspect of leg but pain with stabilizing patella.  The assessment was cartilage irritation of the right medial knee with discomfort under the patella.
  The employee reported no significant pain on March 29, 2004, but increased pain on April 5, 2004.
  Ruth K. Carson, Physical Therapist, wrote to Eric Meffley, PA-C, at Tanana Valley Clinic, on April 18, 2004, that the employee had excellent results in decreasing her knee pain.
 

The employee reported to Fairbanks Chiropractic that “constant pushing on brake pedal of bus caused pain in right knee” and that while the pain was improving it was still present.  She denied that her work activities were restricted as a result of this incident. 
  On May 3, 2004, Mr. Meffley reported that the employee had a small amount of edema mostly medial to the patella.  He continued her on physical therapy for two more weeks. 
  She was also released to full duty work.
  The employee was seen again at Fairbanks Chiropractic on May 13, 2004, for right posterior knee pain, altered gait, and secondary low back pain from the altered gait.
  On May 25, 2004, she reported two weeks of improvement following the last treatment.
  However, the next day she reported increased pain from walking.
  On June 23, 2004, the employee reported improvement following treatment but increased pain with work activities and driving.
  Pain was down on June 25, 2004, but increased again on June 28, 2004.  There was tenderness with palpation.
 

Jonathan T. Victorino, D.C., on June 23, 2004, identified the employee had posterior knee pain but released her to regular work as of May 13, 2004.
  On July 2, 2004, Dr. Victorino noted a deep aching inside the knee and tenderness upon palpation. 
  He noted increased pain on July 15, 2004, and again on July 30, 2004.
  In an undated letter, the employee advised she was changing her medical provider to Dr. Victorino.
  Dr. Victorino made a referral to Richard H. Cobden, M.D., on August 2, 2004, for evaluation and treatment of the employee’s right knee pain, stating that her treatment at that point was palliative.

On August 6, 2004, the employee reported a new injury of a pulled muscle in her back.
  Dr. Cobden saw the employee on August 30, 2004, and noted she had sudden sharp pains in her right knee while working as a bus driver using the air brakes.  He noted good range of motion and unremarkable x-rays; the x-rays of her right knee were normal.  He did recommend an MRI because he suspected a medial meniscus tear.
  The MRI performed on September 1, 2004, showed a small popliteal cyst and a tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus.
  Dr. Cobden on September 8, 2004, reviewed the MRI with the employee and discussed treatment alternatives.  He planned to set her up for an arthroscopy under general anesthesia.
  

Dr. Cobden performed an arthroscopy, partial medial meniscectomy, and plicectomy of the right knee on September 17, 2004.  His post-operative diagnosis was tear of the medial meniscus, right knee.  Chondromalacia was relieved with an ArthriCare unit and the plica was removed.
  He saw the employee in follow-up on September 30, 2004, and noted she had very few symptoms.  She was moving well and no longer had the complaints she had prior to the surgery.  He indicated she would be released to light duty work on October 16, 2004, and to full duty on October 18, 2004. 
  The employee began physical therapy on October 5, 2004, at Denali Center, Fairbanks Memorial Hospital.
  

The employee saw Dr. Cobden on October 21, 2004, regarding her knee complaints.  He released her to light duty, but not to driving the bus.  He administered a Synvisc injection, which gave her some immediate relief.
  However, on October 26, 2004, she reported to her physical therapist that she had an allergic reaction to the shot.
 

The employee, on November 4, 2004, reported her right knee ached a lot after the last session and on November 11, 2004, she reported she was a “little touchy” and could not put much weight on the knee.
  On November 16, 2004, the employee reported at physical therapy that her right knee pain decreased since the last treatment, although she was not sure she was ready to return to work.
  She thought that she was getting stronger.  At her session on November 18, 2004, the employee reported her knee was getting stronger each day.  She was challenged for her report about the right lower extremity pain with pushing motion during stepping, and the physical therapies noted the employee was using abnormal movements and eccentric controls.  The employee complained of some pain in the right medial knee where she received the Synvisc injection and thought her knee was swollen.  Nonetheless, she reported noticeable strength gradually improving each week.
  On November 23, 2004, she reported an increased pain in the left medial knee.

The employee discussed her allergic reaction to the Synvisc injection with Holistic Medical Clinic on November 22, 2004.
  Dr. Cobden, on November 25, 2004, noted that the Synvisc had not worked out as well as it was supposed to based upon the rash the employee developed a few days later, which took several weeks to heal.  The employee told Dr. Cobden she was not sure she could go back to work.  He found no atrophy of either thigh or calf and she had good range of motion in both knees.  He did note some crepitus on the right knee.  He indicated she would be ready for a PPI rating in about three weeks.

On December 1, 2004, the employee reported her knee was better and not hurting although she still had difficulty going downstairs.
  On December 2, 2004, the physical therapist noted Dr. Cobden had been contacted and he wanted the employee to proceed with work hardening.
  On December 3, 2004, a job analysis for the Fairbanks North Star Borough Transit Operator position was provided to the Fairbanks Memorial Hospital.

Dr. Cobden saw the employee on December 9, 2004, and noted the work hardening program had not been approved and the employer wanted a PCE.
  The Functional Capacity Evaluation was performed on December 21 and 22, 2004, by Cathy Franciol, OTR.  Ms. Delong did not complete the evaluation, presenting with decreased range of motion and strength in her right knee.  She had a hypersensitive scar on the medial portal that disallowed her to weight bear on the knee and she had developed an antalgic gait.  She demonstrated poor body mechanics and incurred difficulty maintaining safe knee position while completing floor to waist lifting, and other tests.
   

Dr. Beth Laughlin, N.D., of Holistic Medical Center, on December 30, 2004, recommended physical therapy for pain and recovery from “orthroscopic (sic) surgery, osteoarthritis.”
 On January 4, 2005, the employee reported she twisted her right knee when she slipped that day on the snow.
  

Ms. Delong began physical therapy at Denali Center on January 11, 2005, with the goal of improving her gait and to return to 100% of her activity level. She was currently working in a light duty capacity.  She reported no pain at rest but significantly increased pain after walking all day.
  She reported on January 13, 2005, she had begun physical therapy and her knee felt better.
  The employee saw Dr. Cobden on January 20, 2005, who noted that overall the employee was doing much better.  The employee indicated she wanted to return to work, which Dr. Cobden said would be possible in about four weeks.  Dr. Cobden expressed concerns about the employee driving “any kind of large vehicle.”  He would release her to work with the understanding that if her symptoms worsened she should seek other employment.
  On January 27, 2005, the employee reported to her physical therapist that her massage therapist released something behind the knee and she was now able to walk normally.
  

John W. Joosse, M.D., saw the employee at the request of the employer on January 31, 2005.  He noted that her variety of complaints was consistent with her earlier diagnosis of fibromyalgia.  He concluded that her condition would be work related, although she had a long history of degenerative changes which led to the degenerative tear.  However, he opined she was medically stable from the arthroscopic surgery and her other complaints were the result of her long-standing fibromyalgia and multiple other complaints.  He indicated no additional treatment was needed and she had a one percent PPI rating.  He found, based on his physical examination, she had the physical strength and ability to return to work as a bus driver. 
  

The employee reported to her physical therapist on February 1, 2005, she had seen Dr. Joosse who told her it was time to go back to work and she was fearful.
  At the next appointment on February 3, 2005, she said that her knee had hurt a lot after the last treatment, she took some ibuprophen and the pain did not last into the next day.
  On February 8, 2005, she reported she had been working on her knee which “kind of aches” but she felt she was getting toned.
  Her massage therapist worked on her left ankle on February 18, 2005, after the employee strained it.
 

Dr. Cobden reported on February 24, 2005, the employee stated she felt weak in the knees and had no “strength.”  She complained her knee “doesn’t listen to instructions,” collapsed, and she could not do stairs.  The thigh circumference was 37 cm on the right and 38 cm on the left.  The calves had equal circumference.  Her examination was unremarkable.  Dr. Cobden indicated she only needed to exercise to build up and then return to work.  However, Dr. Cobden did not think she should return to work as a bus driver and released her to sedentary work only.
  He saw her again on March 3, 2005, for help in filling out the FMLA form for her employer.

The employee returned to Fairbanks Chiropractic on March 25, 2005, because she was walking “funny” and had right leg problems.  

Dr. Cobden next saw the employee on April 7, 2005, for counseling.  He noted chondromalacia and some weakness and chronic sprain symptoms in the right knee.  She complained her right thigh was weak and giving way.  She was walking one mile every other day.  She related her current symptoms to the Synvisc injection because she had a reaction to it.  Dr. Cobden stated this was unlikely but agreed that she not get further Synvisc injections.

On April 13, 2005, she was injected at Tanana Valley Clinic in preparation for an MRI.
  The right knee x-ray of April 13, 2005, was read as normal.
  The MRI the same day showed a linear degenerative signal in the posterior horn of the medial meniscus. However, nothing showed evidence of a tear.  There was a small popliteal cyst but everything was intact.

The employee next saw Dr. Cobden on April 20, 2005, with questions about the “1/2 inch of atrophy of her right thigh” which he rechecked and found to be 16 versus 15 ½.  He noted good range of motion with no edema and minimal tenderness.  He recommended she return to physical therapy to improve the atrophy and to build her muscles.
  On May 4, 2005, Dr. Cobden noted the employee’s symptoms had not changed and she was medically stable.  He rated her with a five percent PPI based in part on the menisectomy and increased for the thigh atrophy.  

She had returned to work with Princess Hotel.  Dr. Cobden opined that her return to work and her skills, including a bachelor’s degree in geology would preclude her need for vocational rehabilitation.  Her impairment was unlikely to change in the future.
 

Another Functional Capacities Evaluation was undertaken at Fairbanks Memorial Hospital on July 5-6, 2005.  The employee demonstrated poor body mechanics and required multiple clues to perform lifts correctly.  She exerted maximum voluntary effort, could perform light lifting but did not meet the requirements for a medium level job.  She demonstrated functional range of motion and strength in the right knee but limited herself from using the leg for functional tasks.  A work simulated task of pressing on the brake showed the employee’s right leg to be 50 percent of the left leg.  She also demonstrated guarding of the knee, avoiding weight bearing while complaining her whole leg ached. 
  Dr. Cobden provided another release to return to work as of August 9, 2005.
 

On August 17, 2005, the employee was examined by Fairbanks North Star Borough ambulance personnel for complaints that while driving, she felt her right knee “pop” causing an onset of pain.  The examination revealed no discoloration or deformity, but she reported pain to palpation of tibia medial and a few inches below the patella.
   She was taken to the emergency room where she was instructed to take ibuprofen every six hours and to ice the knee for 20 minutes three to four times a day.
  She was also given Vicodin for pain.  An x-ray of the right knee showed no acute bone or joint abnormality.
 

Dr. Cobden saw the employee on August 18, 2005.  She reported that while on a “training run” the day before when she tried to push the brake with her right knee it gave way.  She stopped the bus using her left foot.  Dr. Cobden noted the employee was employed as a travel director at a local hotel.  His impression was internal derangement of the right knee with some surface chondromalacia or a possible new tear.  He recommended rest and additional physical therapy with some anti-inflammatories. 
  

The employee began physical therapy on August 30, 2005, at North Pole Physical Therapy.
  On September 1, 2005, she reported “normal” soreness following the session the previous day and she was walking with a cane.
  Dr. Cobden also saw her on September 1, 2005, and noted an exacerbated chondromalacia.  He recommended vocational rehabilitation and indicated she could not return to work as a bus driver.
  

On September 23, 2005, the employee told her physical therapist she had been interviewing for jobs. She walked in with a limp.
   Following the exercises, she was provided with a home exercise program and advised she needed to convert to a home exercise scheme three times a week.
  The employee did not seek medical treatment between September 2005 and 
December 2007.

Thomas L. Gritzka, M.D., Orthopedic Surgeon, saw Ms. Delong on November 27, 2007, for a second independent medical evaluation as ordered by the Board.  His diagnosis was status post arthroscopic partial medial meniscectomy, status post arthroscopic right suprapatellar plica resection, and chondromalacia patellae right knee.  He attributed the hypertrophic suprapatellar plica to repetitive use of the foot controls of the bus.  The medial meniscal tear he felt was more probably than not the result of the combination of underlying degenerative meniscus condition caused by the employee’s work activities.  In the employee’s medical history, Dr. Gritzka noted no prior injuries.  He attributed her chondromalacia to her work activities operating the bus.  He recommended a patellar stabilizing brace and possible use of Chondroitin Sulfate and Glucosamine.  He opined the employee was not medically stable because she had not reached maximum medical improvement, pending any improvement from the use of the brace and some form of anti-inflammatory medication.  He indicated did not have the physical capacity to return to work as a bus driver.

Dr. Gritzka reiterated these opinions in response to a set of interrogatories on February 1, 2008.  Specifically, he found that the employee was not medically stable under the Alaska definition of medical stability because her chondromalacia was still symptomatic and she might improve from wearing the knee brace.  He indicated treatment of the chondromalacia patellae would probably eliminate her patellofemoral symptomotology.  He did question whether she had an allergic reaction to the Synvisc injection, although she might have reacted to the carrier.  She needed no further treatment for the meniscectomy or plicectomy. 

An x-ray of the right knee was performed on January 23, 2008, and showed some narrowing of the medical joint space, particularly of varus stress.
  The lateral compartment was intact.  Dr. Cobden saw the employee on February 27, 2008, and gave his impression as degenerative arthritis and chondromalacia, right knee.  He recommended she continue with physical therapy.  He anticipated another PPI rating in one month.
  The employee was seen at Advance Physical Therapy on March 13, 2008.  She reported mild right knee pain.  The physical therapist noted the employee would be getting a patellar knee brace the next week.
 

The employee, on April 9, 2008, saw Dr. Cobden for chronic problems with her right knee.
  The valgus brace made walking for the employee easier and she had it for three weeks.
  Dr. Cobden indicated the employee might need a hemiarthroplasty if her symptoms persisted and that she should continue to use the Move-Free chondroitin/glucosamine.
  Dr. Cobden saw her again on May 22, 2008; his impression was persistent internal derangement and chondromalacia of the right knee with resultant atrophy.  He suggested that her workers’ compensation case be compromised and closed and she should not return to work driving buses.  He recommended she work on building up her quadriceps muscle.
  

A nuclear medicine bone scan was performed at Fairbanks Memorial Hospital on June 12, 2008, and showed no definite scintigraphic abnormality and delayed images of both knees showed no significant abnormal uptake.  The studies revealed possible mild degenerative uptake at the left knee rather than decreased uptake in the right knee.

III.
Employment/Earnings History

Prior to the work incident with FNSB, the employee has a somewhat sporadic work history.  In July 1992, she worked at the University of Alaska Fairbanks (UAF) as an accounts clerk making $10.72 per hour.
  She then transferred to the UAF Museum working part-time for $12.00 per hour.
  From September 15, 1998 through May 5, 2002, Ms. Delong worked at UAF as a Teaching Assistant making $860 per month.
  From October 2002 through May 25, 2003, she worked for Laidlaw as a bus driver.  She began work for FNSB in May 2002.
  She also developed a home business in 2004 selling Body Shop products.
  

Following the work incident of February 3, 2004, the employee continued working for several months and was paid her usual wages.  Starting September 20, 2004 through October 10, 2004, and from January 15, 2005 through February 10, 2005, the employee was paid Temporary Total Disability (“TTD”) benefits. 
 

The employee applied for and received unemployment benefits from the State of Alaska, Department of Labor and Workforce Development, Unemployment Insurance Support Division from the week ending April 2, 2005, through the week ending December 9, 2005.

Ms. Delong also worked for Princess Cruises from May 8, 2005, through October 27, 2005.  Payroll stubs show earnings for the periods ending:


5/13/2005, 5/22/2005, 6/5/2005, 7/3/2005, 


7/17/2005, 7/31/2005, 8/14/2005, 8/28/ 2005,


9/11/2005, 9/25/2005, and 10/24/2005.
 

She worked for the Downtown Association of Fairbanks from December 1, 2005 through July 15, 2006, and grossed $18,721.75 in 2006.  She voluntarily terminated her employment in July 2006.

Architect David A. Whitmore hired the employee in November 2006, to perform office work.  She worked for him from November 2006 through December 2007, working between 10 and 40 hours per week with an average of approximately 20 hours per week.   

Payroll information from the Law Office of Robert M. Beconovich shows that the employee worked for him from April 2008 through May 2008, with earnings of $1682.00.
  She testified she received $15.00 per hour and worked between 20 and 30 hours per week.

IV. Summary of Testimony at Hearing and by Deposition 

A. Debra Delong,  Employee

The employee testified at hearing that she was hired by the employer on May 28, 2004, after working as a school bus driver for Laidlaw.   She went to the employer because the pay was better, and she was a full-time driver, substituting for all other drivers.  She was injured on February 3, 2004, although she had been having problems with her knee prior to that time.  When she started having problems with her right knee while driving for the employer she went to the PA with complaints of sharp shooting pain in her knee and for difficulty with walking.  She knew her supervisor saw her wearing a knee brace and had asked her why.  When she told the supervisor that her knee hurt while driving she was told to file a Report of Injury.   

When the employee saw Dr. Cobden he told her she would be able to return to work in six to eight weeks.  She started physical therapy two weeks after surgery.  She started light duty at some point and it concluded on January 14, 2005, when she was told that she had completed her 90 days.    She then took a leave of absence on March 8, 2005, for six months.    During her leave she worked as an outfitter for Princess Tours, answering questions from tourists about Fairbanks.  The job did not require lifting. 

On August 17, 2005, she tried to drive the bus but after twenty minutes she could not put on the brake without intense pain.   She was stopping at a designated stop with gradual application of pressure on the brake when she felt the pain.   She was transported by ambulance to the hospital.   She was terminated by the employer on August 31, 2005, because she could not do the job.  She was making $23.36 per hour at that time.  

She reviewed the medical records binders for the SIME prior to her appointment and at the SIME she spent 2 to 2 ½ hours with Dr. Gritzka.   She discussed the University event of 1993 and 1994 which led to treatment with Dr. Keller.   Dr. Gritzka recommended a brace and physical therapy and Dr. Cobden has followed Dr. Gritzka’s recommendations.   When she removed the brace her knee was worse than before.   She has unpaid medical bills for the brace (Fairbanks Orthopedics), physical therapy, and Dr. Cobden since the EIME.  Prior to the SIME with Dr. Gritzka she had incurred $3,600.00 with Tanana Clinic.  

Since working for the employer, she has worked at Downtown Association as a receptionist, making $11.00 an hour.  Two months after her hire, a new CEO came in and promoted her paying her $16.00 an hour. Acrimony developed when she was asked to do more than she felt she could do and she felt she could no longer do the job, because working 40 hours a week was too much for her.   She couldn’t walk and her knee was getting worse.    She then went on unemployment and then was hired by David Whitmore, architect, to organize files, paperwork, minor bookkeeping.  She worked 15-20 hours a week in a light, sedentary job.   She was paid $15.00 an hour and could set her own schedule.  In January 2008, her hours were reduced.   She then started working in Mr. Beconovich’s office as a receptionist for $15.00 an hour.    She does filing, typing as needed; however, since he hired a secretary, she fills in only when needed.  

She testified that Dr. Cobden has told her that she has bones grinding together.  Synovisc injection caused her a severe reaction – hives over her whole body, so that is not a treatment option.     Dr, Cobden has recommended additional surgery. 

On cross-examination the employee testified that she did not recall that her knee in 1993 and 1994 ever prevented her from doing normal activities and she did not recall her knee ever giving way.    She also stated that there were times when she was driving the bus that she had rapidly to stop the bus and slam on the brakes.  It was also hard for her to hold down the brake while people were getting on and off the bus.   Her knee gradually got worse and worse.   She would drive with her left foot and would use the left foot to hold the bus brake down.  She drives her own car with her left foot and did so prior to her surgery.  

Currently she becomes fatigued when she walks around on her leg.  She can stay awake only if she sits on her couch all day.  When she goes to the office she becomes tired after 4 hours and has to go home.    After the surgery with Dr. Cobden she thought she was getting better and then she plateaued.  

She also testified that when she left the Downtown Association job she put down that she was leaving to return to school but she really was leaving because she felt she could not handle the job any longer.    She also sells Body Shoppe products from her home, which she has done for 4 years, with her earnings varying from $2000 to $1500 a year.    She is not currently pursuing work with anyone other than Mr. Beconovich.    

B. Richard H. Cobden, Treating Physician

Dr. Cobden testified at hearing and stated that his current treatment of her was based on the referral by the SIME physician.
  He had no disagreements with the report of Dr. Gritzka and has followed his recommendations for her treatment.
   The uploader brace is designed to take the weight off the medial side of the knee and place the weight only on the lateral side.
  The medial side is degenerating, probably due to the work injury.    Chondromalacia is the wearing of the undersurface so that the articular cartilage of the patella begins to disintegrate.
  Chondromalacia is her current condition.
  He is reluctant to recommend knee replacement because a medial hemi-arthroplasty, where the damaged cartilage is replaced, is better, simpler, cheaper, and lasts longer.
   In 2004 when he operated he found chondromalacia and a torn meniscus.  He found her medically stable and released her to return to work with restrictions.    He saw her on an irregular basis but now agrees with Dr. Gritzka that she is not medically stable because there are still treatment modalities to be tried that could improve her condition.
  

Dr. Cobden also testified that the amount of pressure the employee used on the brake for the work injury was not routine, but done very hard and very fast.
  He believed the amount of pressure necessary to brake a bus was obviously a “much greater force" and that she did it at a speed that was “very, very quickly as a reaction to an imminent injury or crash might be, then that amount of force would easily damage her patella or damage for patellar tendon or damage her meniscus." 
   He further testified that he understood that her pushing on the air brake was not “a routine pushing at all. No, it was done very deliberately, very hard, and very fast."
  It was his opinion that the braking of the bus caused her to put a fair amount of pressure on her knee – sufficient to cause the current symptoms, more than four years after last driving a bus.
  He also testified that he thought her job also required changing tires and putting on chains among other things and the job, therefore, was too strenuous for her to perform.
    
On cross-examination Dr. Cobden testified that he did not recall ever seeing or reviewing her 1993/1994 medical records.
   In his opinion, an MRI is not absolute because with surgery you can see exactly what is going on.
  He did not repair the employee’s meniscus but did a partial resection.   Tears can be degenerative but can also be caused by trauma.  What he found when he operated was consistent with her pain complaints.  Her posttraumatic degenerative condition is chondromalacia which is loss of articular cartilage causing instability and weakness.  The trauma causing the tear was pushing on the brake causing over-exerted/hyper-extended knee.   This then caused her to put a fair amount of force on her knee which was sufficient to cause her current condition.
  However, he also stated he has not driven a bus but had only watched a driver operate a bus.

Dr. Cobden agreed chondromalacia is a degenerative condition and she is currently being treated only for chondromalacia.   He relates the chondromalacia to the work injury because the chondromalacia occurred at the time of the work injury.
    Between May 4, 2004 and January 23, 2008, the only evidence she was not medically stable is the report of Dr. Gritzka.   However, because she is not medically stable, his 2005 PPI rating is no longer valid.
   When asked about the amount of pressure needed to depress the brake on the bus, Dr. Cobden stated that even the amount needed to stop a car might be enough, depending on the speed with which the brake is applied and the force.
  His impression is that the employee’s braking was not a routine pushing on the brake but was done very hard and very fast, and he analogized this to a bullet.
   He also stated that she work as a bus driver because she would need to be able to put on chains and she cannot do this.   As for the mechanism of injury, he understood that she slammed on the brakes.
   

C. John J. Joosse, EIME physician

Dr. Joosse testified that he have reviewed the records of Drs. Keller, Cobden and Gritzka, along with the physical therapy reports and the bone scan. 
  He also reviewed the mechanics of bus driving and the report of the injury as stated by the employee.   In January 2005, he personally examined the employee regarding her knee condition.  At that time he thought she had chondromalacia based in part on the previous positive patellar grinding in the medical records.   He stated that chondromalacia is not curable but is treatable. 
   Continuous pushing on the brake pedal would not cause chondromalacia, which can, however, be caused by trauma such as a slip and fall.  Generally degeneration is caused by a misalignment and the employee has a misaligned knee.  This is what is causing her problems – she is bowlegged and her knee caps rotate toward one another and this puts unusual pressure on the knee’s medial compartment.  He also stated that it is unlikely that her plica syndrome is work related.   He noted that the employee had knee pain, degenerative meniscus, and chondromalacia long before her work with the employer.   The problem arose, as nature took its course, during her employment but not because of her employment.  
Dr. Joosse further testified that operating an air brake does not create the type of force required to tear a meniscus.  99% of meniscus tears are not reparable but are trimmed during surgery. 

With regard to the PPI rating, Dr. Joosse stated that only the meniscus tear should be rated, and the plica is not ratable under the AMA Guides, 5th Ed.
  Chondromalacia is ratable only if the employee has a measurable articular loss, i.e., an x-ray shows thinning, which is not shown in this case.
  Furthermore, the employee had no atrophy at the time of the rating by Dr. Cobden.  Use of the uploader brace is likewise not work-related.  The brace reduces varus and creates valus, that is it opens up the knee. 

On cross-examination Dr. Joosse stated that, while her anatomical misalignment puts her at greater risk for problems, repetitive use of air brakes does not lead to the issues the employee has.  He is familiar with air brakes and the mechanism of using them.   It is her misalignment that makes the knee symptomatic, not the work.   He agreed that due to her misalignment and her arthritis at some point she may need a total knee replacement, but again operating the air brakes did not cause nor aggravate the knee condition.  Dr. Joosse testified to the employee’s abnormal alignment of her knee He further opined that a person, such as the employee, “has an innate predisposition to develop arthritis between the knee cap and the thigh bone.”

Dr. Joosse further testified that Dr. Gritzka had apparently not reviewed the employee’s entire medical record, i.e. the voluminous pre-2004 records, because Dr. Gritzka stated that he reviewed the records in the presence of the employee.  According to Dr. Joosse this simply would not have been physically possible since the employee was only with Dr. Gritzka for 2 hours including the examination and history.
  He also noted that Dr. Gritzka could not have reviewed the entire medical history because he made no reference to the evidence of creptitus that Dr. Keller found on February 22, 1994.
  Dr. Joosse further testified that he had reviewed the entire medical file.  He also spoke to the nature of the mechanics of the air brake system used by the employer, including the amount of pressure and extension of the knee needed to operate the buses.
 

According to Dr. Joosse, the employee’s current chondromalacia is directly and solely attributable to her ongoing and pre-existing degenerative and congenital condition (the abnormal alignment of her knees).  Any aggravation of her condition that might have been caused by her work at FNSB had resolved by the time of his examination of the employee in January 2005.

D. Thomas L. Gritzka, SIME physician

Dr. Gritzka testified through his report and letter regarding his evaluation of the employee’s condition and its relationship to her work.  He stated “the work activities of operating and pushing on a bus brake pedal aggravated that condition and produced a horizontal shearing effect that caused the meniscal degeneration to extend and worsen over time.  Also, however, operation of the brake pedal caused, more probably than not, a worsening of her chondromalacia patellae by the mechanisms explained above and also contributed to the scarification and stiffening of the right suprapatellar plica.”
  He stated that she was not medically stable because she needed further conservative treatment including use of a patellar stabilization brace or knee sleeve to simulate the function of a McConnel l’s taping.
 He added that she should use an anti-inflammatory medication and physical therapy to strengthen her right vastus medialis obliques muscles because she has a slight bilateral genu varum and also bilateral internal femoral torsion.  These anatomic variances promote lateral displacement of the patella and can cause or aggravate chondromalacia patellae.   Therefore, people who have patellofemoral chondromalacia benefit from vastus medialis obliques strengthening.

He did agree that the employee had bilateral genu varum and this anatomic structure puts a lateral stress on the patellofemoral mechanism.  He stated that “Individuals who have the anatomic configuration that [the employee] has have an increased incidence of lateral patellar subluxation and secondary chondromalacia patellae.  In other words, such an individual has an innate predisposition to develop arthritis between the knee cap and the thigh bone.”
  He added that her work activities involved repetitive extension of the right knee against resistance which was similar to a quadriceps extension exercise” and such exercises are detrimental to the knee.  He thought that her work driving the bus resulted in making her chondromalacia currently symptomatic.

E. Cary Keller, M.D., treating doctor

Dr. Keller testified by deposition that he treated the employee in 1993 and 1994 for a knee problem while she was employed by the University of Alaska Fairbanks.
   He stated that it appeared to him that the employee was having difficulties at work partly in response to her “bodily symptoms” and partly due to work relationships.
  At the time of his examination, the employee had patellofemoral pain which he thought could have been a meniscal tear.
  He also noted that she reported to him that both knees bothered her but the right “gave way more easily.”
  Furthermore, he opined that there were definite degenerative changes in the posterior horn of the medial meniscus which was shown on the MRI.  However, an MRI may fail to demonstrate a tear even if a tear is present.
  He also stated that patellofemoral chondrosis “was clearly present in ‘93/’94.”
 He reiterated that there was degeneration in the meniscus and there may have been a tear.
 Dr. Keller also disagreed with Dr. Gritzka and said that the brake motion was unlikely to be a factor in the meniscal tear although it could exacerbate the patellofemoral symptoms.
  However, whether it would be a permanent aggravation would depend on what she did after the bus job.
  He reiterated she had patellar chondromalacia in 1993/1994.
  He also explained that “use of the uploader brace decreases the varus alignment of the knee, decreases the bowlegged position, puts the knee back in a more normal alignment, and thereby decreases the forces on the medial compartment.”
 

F. Glenn Miller, Transportation Director, Fairbanks North Star Borough

Mr. Miller testified at hearing that he had worked with the Employer since 1989, first as an automotive technician and then as a maintenance supervisor.  He described the job description for transit driver and stated that the physical requirements for operating a bus do not require greater physical demands than needed to drive a personal car.  The employee drove a 1994 coach bus with an air brake system.  The 1949 air brakes became standard on buses because it allows the driver to stop the bus without a great deal of force.  As the brake pedal is depressed for more braking no greater pressure need be applied and the motion to apply the brake is slight.  He also testified that the seat is adjustable and, therefore, the employee does not need to use her knee to access and apply the brake; rather, she only has to move her foot from the gas pedal to the brake pedal.  He further testified that the buses are routinely maintained and preventative maintenance is conducted.  He conducted testing along with two technicians to determine the amount of pressure needed to stop a bus and a 2003 Honda Civic.  The pressure on the brake to stop the bus at 30 mph for the bus was 25 pounds and for the passenger car was 30 pounds.  Even if one had to stop the bus quickly, greater pressure was not required.  Moreover, whenever an employee had a ”near miss” or had to use the emergency brake, the employee was required to fill out an “incident report.”  The employer did have any incident reports completed by the employee.
  He agreed that a person could apply more pressure than needed and he had had drivers who braked too hard and accelerated too hard.  In those situations the driver was referred for additional training.  The employee was never referred for additional training.

G. Becky McLoud, Adjuster, Northern Adjusters, Anchorage

Ms. McLoud testified at hearing that she has been an adjuster since 1986 and has been asked by the employer from time to time to calculate compensation rates for employees with workers’ compensation claims.  The employer asked her in 2008 to review the employee’s compensation rate.  The employee was injured in 2004, and so her rate would be based on the formula for that year in AS 23.30.220(a)(4).  At the time of her injury, the employee’s rate would be based on the best 13 weeks in the 52 weeks preceding the date of injury.  Ms. McLoud testified that she reviewed the previous compensation reports and prepared a corrected report.  She calculated that the employee had a gross weekly wage of $549.59, based on the best 13 weeks in the 52 weeks preceding the date of injury.  This gross weekly wage, using the compensation rate tables, gave the employee a compensation rate of $359.05.  Ms. McLoud also determined in reviewing the prior reports that there had been an overpayment.    

H. Diane Thomas, Payroll Manager, Fairbanks North Star Borough

Ms. Thomas testified at hearing that the employee had been hired on May 28, 2002 and been given Family Medical Leave Act leave in September 2004.  Initially, the employee’s claim of a work injury had been denied but then accepted upon receipt of additional information.  The employee was restricted from work from September 17, 2004 to October 25, 2004.  She was given a release to light duty effective October 11, 2004.  The employer provides light duty work for injured workers for 90 days.  The employee worked throughout the 90 day period and was paid.  On January 15, 2005, the employee was given a leave of absence.  Employee returned to work and worked 10 ½ hours.  The only condition on the employee for returning to work was that she be able to perform the job.  She further testified that full-time workers work a 40 hour week but the employee had always been a half-time employee.  Overtime would be paid only when an employee worked more than 40 hours in one week and the employee had been paid overtime on only three occasions.  She agreed that at the time the employee stopped working her hourly rate was $23.36 per hour.   


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I. Presumption of Compensability

AS 23.30.120 Presumptions, provides, in part, that

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that 

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

(2) sufficient notice of the claim has been given;

The Alaska Supreme Court has held that "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits she seeks are compensable.
   

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and her employment.  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

“Before the presumption attaches, some preliminary link must be established between a claimant’s disability and the employment.”
  “The purpose of the preliminary link requirement is to ‘rule out cases in which [the] claimant can show neither that the injury occurred in the course of employment nor that it arose out of [it].’”
  In making the preliminary link determination, the Board may not concern itself with the witnesses’ credibility.”

Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury is not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: 


(1)  produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if 
accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or 



(2)  directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in 
the disability.

"Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  “It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.”
  If medical experts rule out work-related causes for the injury, then an alternative explanation is not required.
  The Board must look at the employer’s evidence in isolation, without regard to any evidence presented by the employee.  Therefore, questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence are deferred by the Board until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles her to compensation benefits.
  

If the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, bringing us to the third step of the presumption analysis, which provides that the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the Board that the asserted facts are probably true.

II. Compensability of the Employee’s Claim for Ongoing Medical Benefits.

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) specifically applies to claims for medical benefits.
  If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment is still compensable, and the employer is still responsible for continuing medical benefits under subsection AS 23.30.095(a).
  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).
  In the instant case, the employee makes a claim for payment of past physical therapy and for ongoing medical treatment of the chondromalacia condition.  

The employee’s work injury was a tear of the posterior horn of the medical meniscus.  It was repaired by arthroscopic surgery, which included a partial medial meniscectomy and plicectomy of the right knee.  Dr. Cobden did the surgery on September 17, 2004.
  Her current condition is, according to Drs. Cobden and Gritzka, chondromalacia.  

The employee through the reports and statements of Drs. Cobden and Dr. Gritzka has raised the presumption of compensability that her current chondromalacia is the result of the work injury.  Dr. Gritzka opined that “the work activities of operating and pushing on a bus brake pedal aggravated that condition and produced a horizontal shearing effect that caused the meniscal degeneration to extend and worsen over time.  Also, however, operation of the brake pedal caused, more probably than not, a worsening of her chondromalacia patellae by the mechanisms explained above and also contributed to the scarification and stiffening of the right suprapatellar plica.”
  Their opinions plus the employee’s testimony that her knee symptoms have never gone away
 are sufficient to raise the presumption that Ms. Delong’s need for ongoing medical treatment is related to her 2004 injury with FNSB.  

Once the link between the disability and work has been established by the employee, the presumption of compensability attaches; then at the second stage of the analysis, the employer must overcome the presumption with substantial evidence ruling out work as the cause of the disability.  The report and testimony of Dr. Joosse that the employee’s work with the employer is not a substantial factor in her current disability meets the threshold of substantial evidence and thus rebuts the presumption.   Dr. Joosse, told the Board, that he attributed the employee’s current chondromalacia symptoms to her ongoing and pre-existing degenerative and congenital condition.  He further testified that, if her work for the employer aggravated her knee, it was at most a temporary aggravation, which had resolved by the time he saw her in January 2005, and certainly by the time that Dr. Cobden rated her for PPI in May 2005.  He stated that a degenerative condition develops over time but is not caused by a torn meniscus.
  It is a progressive degenerative condition.
  Dr. Joosse also described the employee’s abnormal alignment of her knee and agreed with Dr. Gritzka that an anatomic variance can cause or aggravate chondromalacia patellae.
  He further opined that a person, such as the employee, “has an innate predisposition to develop arthritis between the knee cap and the thigh bone.”

We find Dr. Joosse’s testimony is substantial evidence sufficient to rebut the presumption, as it rules out work as the cause of the employee’s current chondromalacia.  

Once the employer rebuts the presumption of compensability, the employee must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  We find the employee is not able to prove her current condition is the result of her work with the employer by the preponderance of the evidence.  The Board has the exclusive authority to decide the credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness. A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s findings in a civil action.
  

Based on the testimony presented at hearing including the depositions of Drs. Cobden, Gritzka, Keller and Joosse and Mr. Glenn Miller, Director of Transportation for FNSB, the Board finds Dr. Joosse and Mr. Miller to be the more credible with regard to the amount of pressure necessary to brake a FNSB bus and the consequent pressure on the knee than the reports and testimony of Drs. Cobden and Gritzka.  Mr. Miller testified the amount of pressure to be applied on the air brakes of the bus driven by the employee, and to stop the bus, was no greater than that applied to a passenger car.  Even to stop the bus quickly, greater pressure was not necessary.  Furthermore, any emergency use of the brake, or “near misses” obligated the bus driver to file an “incident report.”  The employee did not file any incident reports during her tenure with FNSB.  The employee testified at hearing that she absolutely never had an incident while driving a bus for FNSB, which would have required her to slam on the brakes or cause her to collide with another vehicle.
  The Board finds that Mr. Miller is a credible witness with pertinent and factual information regarding braking pressure.  We rely on Mr. Miller’s testimony in determining that the employee’s operation of the bus did not require her to apply great pressure to the brakes, as had been envisioned by Dr. Cobden in arriving at his opinion regarding the cause of the employee’s condition. 

The Board finds that prior to receiving the report of Dr. Gritzka, Dr. Cobden concluded the employee was medically stable in May 2005, based upon the statutory definition of medical stability.  He was unable to point to any “further objectively measurable improvement” which could be reasonably anticipated from any additional care or treatment.  He also testified that the amount of pressure the employee used on the brake for the work injury was not routine, but done very hard and very quickly.  We find Dr. Cobden assumed the employee had to slam on the brakes when she developed the pain she reported to him.  Dr. Cobden testified at hearing that he believed the amount of pressure necessary to brake a bus was obviously a “much greater force" and that she did it at a speed that was “very, very quickly as a reaction to an imminent injury or crash might be, then that amount of force would easily damage her patella or damage for patellar tendon or damage her meniscus." 
   He further testified that he understood that her pushing on the air brake was not “a routine pushing at all. No, it was done very deliberately, very hard, and very fast."
  It was his opinion that the braking of the bus caused her to put a fair amount of pressure on her knee – sufficient to cause the current symptoms, more than four years after last driving a bus.  He also testified that he thought her job also required changing tires and putting on chains among other things and the job, therefore, was too strenuous for her to perform.  The Board finds Dr. Cobden’s opinions regarding the employee’s mechanism of injury are unfounded and contrary to the testimony of Mr. Miller, which the Board finds credible, regarding the actual physical strength needed to brake an FSNB bus and the physical requirements for the job performed by the employee.  We find Dr. Cobden’s opinion is also contrary to the employee’s testimony and shows a critical misunderstanding of the physical requirements of the employee’s job and her own actions.  Consequently, the Board does not find Dr. Cobden’s opinion credible.

Likewise, the Board finds that Dr. Gritzka based his opinion regarding the cause of the employee’s current condition on the assumption that the employee needed to use substantial pressure when braking the bus.  We find his opinion is not based in fact and is contrary to the evidence presented by Mr. Miller, upon which the Board relies regarding the actual amount of pressure needed to brake a FNSB bus and the physical requirements for the employee’s job.  We find Dr. Gritzka is of the opinion the employee’s chondromalacia was caused or permanently aggravated by the repetitive extension of her right knee while operating the bus.  However, this is contrary to the testimony of Mr. Miller, which the Board finds credible and upon which the Board relies, regarding the actual configuration of the bus and the amount of pressure required to stop a bus with air brakes.  Based upon Dr. Gritzka’s misplaced reliance as to the required pressure to operate the brakes of the bus, the Board does not find his opinion credible,
 nor do we rely on Dr. Gritzka’s opinion that the employee’s chondromalacia was caused or aggravated by her work 

III.
Employee’s Claim for a Compensation Rate Adjustment

The compensation rate the employer paid the employee was $435.07 per week.  She seeks a compensation rate adjustment based on her hourly rate of $26.36, her rate at FNSB in August 2005.  She asserts she worked 30 hours a week and, therefore, is entitled to a gross weekly wage of $700.80 (30 x $26.36).  This figure, based on the compensation rate tables, would give her a weekly compensation rate of $450.09.  
  

In 2004, the statute setting out the means to calculate an employee’s compensation rate, 
AS 23.30.220(a)(4), stated that if at the time of injury the 

(A) Employee’s earnings are calculated by the day, hour, or by the output of the employee, the employee’s gross weekly earnings are the employee’s earnings most favorable to the employee computed by dividing 13 the employee’s earnings, including overtime or premium pay, earned during any period of 13 consecutive calendar weeks within the 52 weeks immediately preceding the injury….

The Alaska Supreme Court has consistently held that a primary purpose of the various historical versions of our workers’ compensation law is to accurately predict what an injured worker's earnings would have been but for the worker’s injury.
  In Justice v. RMH Aero Logging, Inc.,
 the Court, discussing a previous version of the statute, held that where past wage levels are an accurate predictor of losses due to injury, the Board must apply the statutory formula unless there is substantial evidence that past wage levels will lead to an irrational award.
  

In Gilmore v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court declared former AS 23.30.220 to be in violation of the equal protection clause of the Alaska Constitution, as applied in that case, because the formula resulted in substantially different compensation rates for similarly situated claimants.
  In 1995, the Alaska Legislature rewrote AS 23.30.220, in response to the Supreme Court’s ruling in Gilmore, creating several options for calculating compensation rates for injured workers.  In Dougan v. Aurora Electric Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court noted:  

The holding in Gilmore is largely based on the fact that wage determinations under the prior version of the statute based compensation rates exclusively on the average wage earned during a period of over a year without providing an alternate approach if the result was unfair.  The amended version of AS 23.30.220 corrects that problem by providing a variety of formulas for differing employment situations.  The board correctly applied the new version of AS 23.30.220(a) when it initially calculated Dougans [sic] compensation rate.  The amended statute closely follows the model law cited in Gilmore as an example of a statute that would not violate the Equal Protection Clause.

In keeping with the Court's directions in Dougan, in our decisions we presume the Legislature intended to apply the provision of the version of AS 23.30.220 that most closely fits the earnings fact-pattern in any given claim.  The parties have a burden to provide substantial evidence that applying the statutory formula does not rationally predict earning losses due to injury.

Reading together Dougan and Justice, the Alaska Supreme Court in Flowline v. Brennan
 held the Board must apply the provision of AS 23.30.220 that most closely fits the earnings fact-pattern in any given claim.  The parties must provide substantial evidence that applying the statutory formula does not accurately predict earning losses due to injury.
 

In the instant matter, the employee has requested a compensation rate adjustment, asserting that the compensation rate calculated under AS 23.30.220(a)(4) does not accurately reflect his demonstrated earnings at the time of his injury.  The employer, on the other hand, asserts that the employee earned his wages on an hourly basis and the Board is required to apply the provisions of AS 23.30.220 that most closely fit the employee’s earning fact pattern.  The employer argues proper calculation of the employee’s compensation rate is derived from application of the statutory formula of 
AS 23.30.220(a)(4).

The law in effect at the time of injury controls the statutory formula to be applied in reaching the injured worker’s compensation rate.
  We find, based upon the employee’s representations and Adjuster Becky McLoud’s testimony, the employee was paid by the hour for her work at FNSB.
  At hearing, Becky McLoud, Adjuster at Northern Adjusters, testified that she was retained by FNSB to handle some of its workers’ compensation claims.  In the employee’s case, Ms. McLoud testified she calculated the employee’s gross weekly earnings for the 2004 work injury.  She looked at the prior 52 weeks before the injury to determine the best 13 consecutive weeks using 
AS 23.30.220(a)(4), as required by the statutes.  She testified she calculated the employee’s gross weekly wage for her best 13 consecutive weeks was $549.59.   Using the 2004 compensation rate table, this provided the employee with a weekly compensation rate of $359.05.  The employee was paid TTD using a higher but inaccurate compensation rate of $435.07 per week which has resulted in an overpayment of $532.14.

The Alaska Supreme Court has emphasized that, a primary purpose of our workers’ compensation laws is to predict accurately what wages would have been but for a worker’s injury.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp., "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  In the instant case, the employee has requested a compensation rate adjustment.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, we must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employee’s claim for a compensation rate adjustment in that amount.  

Although the quantum of evidence needed to attach the presumption of compensability is small, the employee must present some evidence to attach the presumption.  The employee does not present any evidence that her compensation rate was incorrectly calculated under AS 23.30.220.  Rather she merely argues that her compensation rate should be based on her hourly rate at the time she stopped working for the employer.  The Board finds that she has not attached the presumption that she is entitled to a compensation rate adjustment.  

Nonetheless, if the employee’s testimony that her gross weekly wage should be based on her hourly wage at the time of her termination of employment with the employer is sufficient to establish the preliminary link necessary to raise the presumption, then the Board finds that the employer has overcome the presumption with substantial evidence that it followed the Act in calculating her compensation rate.  The purpose of calculating a compensation rate is “to arrive at a fair approximation of claimant’s probable future earning capacity.” 
  Furthermore, the Alaska Supreme Court has stated that “where past wage levels are accurate predictors, the Board must apply the statutory formula.”
  The Alaska Supreme Court has since repeated its opinion that the Board may not deviate from the statutory scheme absent substantial evidence that past wages would lead to an “irrational workers’ compensation award.”
  

The employer demonstrated it followed the statutory formula in calculating the employee’s gross hourly wage.  This is substantial evidence with which the employer has rebutted the presumption, since by law the employer must use the statutory scheme that most closely approximates the employee’s gross weekly wages.  The employee was an hourly worker and had worked for the employer for approximately two years when she filed a report of injury.  Therefore, the employer was obligated to calculate her gross weekly wage using AS 23.30.220(a)(4).  

We find the employee is unable to show by a preponderance of the evidence she is entitled to a compensation rate adjustment.  She has provided no evidence that use of her past wages led to an “irrational workers’ compensation award.”
  We find no evidence her rate was incorrectly computed based on the statutory scheme.  She has provided no evidence to show that some other mechanism should be used, other than the mere fact that when she was terminated from the employer when her hourly wage was $26.36.  Despite this, we find the use of her past earnings to compute her compensation rate resulted in a fair and approximate estimate of her future earnings capacity, considering her part time work and work history.  Using her best 13 weeks in the 52 weeks immediately preceding her date of injury, as required by AS 23.30.220(a)(4), has provided her with the correct compensation rate of $359.05.  We conclude the employee is not entitled to an adjustment of her compensation rate which was correctly calculated and paid by the employer.   

III. The Employee’s  Claim for Past TTD or TPD.

Temporary Total Disability benefits are due, under AS 23.30.185, when the employee has a “disability that is total in character, but temporary in quality… [and] temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.”
   Moreover, “compensation is not payable to an employee under AS 23.30.180 or 23.30.185 for a week in which the employee receives unemployment benefits.” 
   Post-injury earnings may also be considered when assessing whether an employee is disabled from work as a result of the work injury, i.e., whether the employee is incapacitated because of the injury to earn the wages which the employee was earning at the time of the injury. 
    However, when an employee voluntarily removes herself from the labor market, she will not be entitled to temporary total disability benefits.
  

The employee is seeking $82,517.78 for the alleged unpaid TTD, from February 3, 2004 through May 20, 2008.  The first question is whether she has raised the presumption that her claim for TTD benefits from February 3, 2004 through May 20, 2008, is compensable.  The employee relies on the statements by Dr. Gritzka that she is not medically stable since her symptoms of chondromalacia (the wearing of the undersurface of the patella so the articular cartilage begins to disintegrate) 
 may improve with the use of a patellar stabilizing brace.  Therefore, she asserts she is entitled to TTD benefits from February 3, 2004 and ongoing.  She also relies on the concurrence by 
Dr. Cobden with Dr. Gritzka’s opinion that she is not now and has never been medically stable, as further support for her claim for past and future TTD.  Since the amount of evidence to attach the presumption is minimal, we find this proffered evidence is sufficient to attach the presumption.  

When the presumption attaches, the employer must overcome the presumption with substantial evidence.  Here, the employer has provided evidence the employee was medically stable in 2005 based on evaluations by both Dr. Cobden, the treating doctor, and the EIME physician Dr. Joosse.   Moreover, the employer has also produced evidence the employee worked, received workers’ compensation benefits, and/or unemployment benefits during most of the time at issue.  We find the evidence is substantial and sufficient to overcome the presumption.   

The employee continued working for FNSB after her injury on February 3, 2004, and was paid for her work from February 1, 2004, through September 19, 2004.  We find she is not entitled to TTD for the period in which she was paid her actual wages.  She was also paid workers’ compensation benefits from September 20, 2004, through October 10, 2004, and from January 15, 2005, through February 10, 2005, and thus is not entitled to TTD for this time period since she was paid TTD.
  Since the Board finds her compensation was correctly calculated, she is not entitled to additional TTD benefits for these periods.  Her benefits were controverted on February 10, 2005, based on the EIME report by Dr. Joosse (dated January 31, 2005), that she was medically stable.  Dr. Cobden found her medically stable on May 4, 2005.  

The employee began collecting unemployment benefits beginning the week ending April 2, 2005, and received benefits through the week ending May 14, 2005.  As of April 12, 2005, she began work for Princess Cruises as an outfitter.  When the season ended in September, the employee again began collecting unemployment benefits.  She was paid unemployment benefits from the week ending September 24, 2005, through the week ending December 9, 2005.  Under AS 23.30.187, the employee is prohibited from being paid TTD during any week in which she received unemployment benefits.

In December 2005, the employee began working for Downtown Association of Fairbanks where she worked full-time from December 1, 2005 through July 15, 2006.  According to her 2006 income tax return, she grossed $18,721.75 while working in 2006 for the Downtown Association.  She voluntarily terminated her employment in July 2005 in order, according to her letter of resignation, to return to UAF to complete her Master’s degree.
  According to her testimony she actually quit because she felt she could not do the work she was being asked to do.
  Nonetheless, the employee voluntarily removed herself from the labor market and, therefore, is not  entitled to TTD.

According to the employee, in November 2006, she began working for architect David Whitmore.
  Her billings and payment records reflect work on a weekly basis with fluctuating hours.  We find she worked for him from November 2006 through December 2007.  

Additionally, Diane Thomas, Payroll Manager for the employer, testified the employee was a half-time, unscheduled employee, who never was a full-time bus driver.  After February 3, 2004, the employee was paid over-time on only three occasions, each time due to her working more than eight hours in one day.  Usually, as reflected in the time records, she worked no more than 20 hours in any given week.  She was given light duty work following surgery in September 2004 until she was terminated in August 2005, when she was not released to return to work as a bus driver.  

The Board finds that we accede to Dr. Cobden’s determination of medical stability based upon his consistent treatment of the employee and monitoring of the progression of her recovery.  Looking at the evidence in the record as a whole, the Board finds the employee medically stable after 
May 4, 2005, and not entitled to any TTD after May 4, 2005.  The Board finds that the employee is entitled to TTD from February 10, 2005, to April 2, 2005, when she applied for and received unemployment benefits.  Even though Dr. Joosse found her medically stable when he examined her in January 2005, Dr. Cobden, who was the employee’s treating physician, did not declare her medically stable until May 4, 2005.    

However, TTD was paid to her through Feb.10, 2005, when she was paid the 1% PPI in a lump sum.   The employee commenced receiving Unemployment benefits the week ending April 2, 2005.  Therefore, accepting Dr. Cobden’s date of medical stability as May 4, 2005, she is entitled to TTD from February 10, 2005, to April 2, 2005, a period of 7 weeks.  At her compensation rate of $359.05 this comes to $2,513.35.  However, the employer has claimed an overpayment of $532.14 which it is entitled to take as an offset at 100%.   The employee is entitled to interest at the rate of 6.25%, the interest rate for 2005.  

IV. PPI Benefits. 

Permanent Partial Impairment benefits (PPI) are due when an employee has an “impairment partial in character, but permanent in quality, and not resulting in permanent total disability….”
  The employee will be compensated for the percentage of permanent impairment of the whole person.  When the person is given a rating the compensation based on the rating is payable in a lump sum. 
 

Since the Board has determined that the employee was medically stable in May 2005 as a result of her work with the employer, and both Dr. Joosse and Dr. Cobden agreed she had a permanent partial impairment as a result of the torn meniscus, she is entitled to PPI benefits.  She has raised the presumption that she is entitle to 5% in PPI benefits based on the report of her treating physician 
Dr. Cobden on May 4, 2005.   The employer overcame this presumption with substantial evidence through Dr. Joosse, its EIME physician, who rated her on January 31, 2005, and gave her a 1% rating which had been paid.   The issue, thus, is whether she is entitled to the 1% or 5% rating. 

Here, Dr. Joosse and Dr. Cobden disagreed over the exact conditions to be included in the PPI rating.  Dr. Joosse opined that the plica excision was not ratable under the AMA Guides, 5th Ed.  and based his rating on the partial menisectomy only.
  Dr. Cobden came to his rating by including the partial menisectomy but also giving her a rating for the atrophy of the right thigh and placing her in Category A (Table 17-5, p. 529) using a range for an altered gait.
  
Dr. Cobden’s rating, however, was random and arbitrarily applies ranges of motion that do not exist in the Guides.   The Board finds this rating improperly done.

The Board finds that the PPI rating by Dr. Joosse was the only rating correctly performed using the AMA Guides.  The employee has been paid the 1% PPI rating by Dr. Joosse and is, therefore, not entitled to any additional PPI.  

VI.  Attorney’s Fees and Costs  
AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The employee is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted)
Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.

Based on our review of the record, we find the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the employee’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the employee.  Specifically, we find the employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the employee’s entitlement to benefits.  The Board concludes we may award attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires that the Board consider the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the amount of benefits involved.  In our awards, the Board attempts to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  

In light of these factors, we have examined the record of this case.  The employee’s attorney’s December 15, 2008, affidavit of fees indicates he charged $250.00 per hour, and his fees total $23,715 including paralegal time.  Subtracting 1.45 hours of paralegal time at $100.00 leaves a total of $23,570, in attorney’s fees.  The employee seeks a total of $26,048.25 in attorney’s fees, paralegal fees and costs.  We note the claimed hourly rate of $250.00 is within the reasonable range for employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  We found the attorney’s arguments at hearing of some benefit to us in considering the disputes in this matter.  We find this was a contested case, and this hourly rate is reasonable.  

However, due to the fact the employee did not prevail on the significant issues of compensability, compensation rate adjustment, ongoing medical, all claimed TTD benefits and PPI, we shall reduce the attorney’s fees sought.  Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the amount of benefits resulting from the services obtained, we find the attorney’s fee of $5,000.00 to be reasonable for the issues on which the employee prevailed.  We also award a total of $2,543.00 for paralegal fees and costs.  The total award for attorney’s fees and costs is $7,543.00.

ORDER
1. Employee’s claims for ongoing medical treatment and other benefits are denied as her current condition is not related to her work injury.  

2. Employee’s claim for a compensation rate adjustment is denied and dismissed.

3. The employee’s claim for past and ongoing TTD is denied in part and ordered in part.  Employee is granted TTD for the period of February 11, 2005 to April 2, 2005, less the $532.14 overpayment, plus interest. 

4. Employee’s claim for additional PPI is denied and dismissed. 

5. Employee’s request for attorney’s fees and costs is granted in part.  The employee is awarded a total of $7,543.00 in attorney’s fees and costs. 

Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska on May 8, 2009.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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